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We’ve been the pharmacy  
of choice for thousands of  
South Australians since 1911  
and we’ve been caring for  
our members and the wider 
community ever since. 



contents
Report of National Pharmacies Operations in 2016/17 1

Corporate Governance Statement 9

Directors’ Report 17

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 23

Independent Auditor’s Report 24

Directors’ Declaration 26

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 27

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 28

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 29

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 30 

Notes to the Financial Statements 31 

General Managers 56 

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited



Members are at the heart of everything we 
do at National Pharmacies. Our membership 
offer is our unique consumer proposition 
and this is firmly embedded in our Vision.

Our Vision
We continue to evolve and adapt to the 
environment around us so that we can deliver 
on our promise of value adding to our 
members’ lives.

To this end we will continue to absorb Federal 
Government income reductions through PBS 
Reforms and provide caring and outstanding 
service to our members in an ever changing 
retail landscape.

Communicate  
Effectively

Value our  
Members and  

Customers

Act  
Professionally

Have Respect  
and Celebrate

We ACHIEVE  
Our Vision  

Through Our Values

Embrace 
Safety

Excel Through  
Teamwork

Improve  
Ourselves and our 

Organisation
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During the year we undertook a review  
of our Values. The importance of “Safety” 
and “Members” are now specifically  
recognised in our Values statements. 

Our Values and how we exhibit them  
are displayed as: 

Act Professionally

• We are committed to behaving in an 
 honest and ethical way at all times.

• We have pride in the presentation and 
actions of ourselves, our workplace and  
the organisation.

Communicate Effectively

• We develop and share enthusiasm for  
all that we do.

• We clarify our communication with each 
other to ensure understanding.

Have Respect and Celebrate

• We readily accept and value differences in 
personalities, experiences and capabilities  
of others. 

• We show respect for the environment  
and all the people and the communities  
we serve. 

• We aim to create a working environment  
that is positive and fulfilling. 

• We actively acknowledge the need for 
employees to balance all aspects of their 
lives, including work.

• We recognise contributions and celebrate 
achievements wherever possible.

Improve Ourselves and  
Our Organisation

• We are committed to our people and the 
sustainability of our organisation and building 
a high performance culture. 

• We encourage personal development, the 
gaining of skills and knowledge of others and 
of ourselves. 

• We recognise that the organisation’s success 
will be realised by working together in an 
environment that encourages learning, 
rewards achievement and fosters continuous 
improvement in all that we do.

Embrace Safety

• We seek to build an organisational culture 
that places a high level of importance on 
safety beliefs, attitudes and behaviours.  
This is characterised by the integration of 
safety into all business processes where 
delivering no injury or harm to people,  
or the environment is “the way we do things 
around here”.

Value Our Members and Customers

• We will ensure our service is prompt,  
efficient and focussed on their individual  
and particular needs. 

• We pride ourselves on providing value 
through personal one on one attention 
and care.

Excel Through Teamwork

• We recognise that National Pharmacies  
is made up of lots of smaller teams making 
one team, working toward common goals.

Our Values

2

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited



Report of National Pharmacies Operations in 2016/17
Operations

Our 53 pharmacies and 21 optical stores 
collectively serve over 72,000 consumers  
each week with the professional service and 
care standards for which we have become  
well known. 

We have recently launched our new Member 
Benefits program with in-store member hubs, 
display stands and an advertising campaign. We 
are encouraged by the early signs with new 
direct member growth numbers exceeding 
previous years.

During the year we opened 2 new locations at 
Hallett Cove and Blakeview in South Australia  
by relocating small stores into newer purpose 
built tenancies adjacent to doctors’ surgeries. 

We also relocated our Elizabeth Optical 
business to our Craigmore store and have 
introduced a new concept store at the  
Elizabeth Shopping Centre. This new store 
incorporates innovative design features to 
facilitate members’ health needs with 
accessible pharmacists at the front of the  
store for advice, prescription facilities as well  
as a modern consulting room to deliver  
health services.

The store will continue to integrate new 
technologies including digital messaging 
screens, member hubs and robotic stock 
dispensing techniques. Feedback from 
members has been very encouraging.

A membership message on an Adelaide bus during the membership drive.
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Report of National Pharmacies Operations in 2016/17

Technology

Our organisation is being recognised globally 
for our unique and progressive technology 
architecture which has delivered a fully 
integrated member user experience across all 
of our digital technologies at an affordable cost. 
National Pharmacies has been the recipient of 
the following international awards:

• 2014 – Oracle Fusion Middleware Innovation 
Award – Mobility Enterprise

• 2016 – Oracle Cloud Platform Innovation 
Award – Mobile Platform

• 2016 – Oracle Cloud Platform Innovation 
Award – Security (Runner up)

• 2017 – Oracle Global Excellence Award  
– Innovation Extending and Connecting 
Applications

Through technology we are now providing  
our members with a number of ways in which 
they can interact with us.

Using their smart phones members can now 
navigate from their member profile, to the 
online store, to making an appointment, to 
asking a question through to redeeming 
promotional vouchers.

We have commenced a project that will replace 
most of our legacy IT applications with a single 
fully integrated platform. This is a once in a 
generation change which will transform the 
way we work and enhance productivity across 
the whole organisation. 

In addition to this, we are also replacing our 
long standing dispensary and point of sale 
systems with the latest fully integrated system 
called “Z”. This will see our dispensing 
capabilities improve and will reduce member 
prescription waiting times. 

The invigorated mobile APP at the Elizabeth concept store.
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A skilled, knowledgeable, motivated 
and caring team is essential in adding 
value to our members’ lives.

The team from National Pharmacies Blakeview and the Munno Para Bowling Club. Hallett Cove PIC Aaron Chen with members of the  
Hallett Cove Netball Club

Our People

We know our members want great service  
in addition to great member benefits. At 
National Pharmacies we believe that our people 
make the difference. We are proud of the work 
our people do every day for our members. 
Having a skilled, knowledgeable, motivated  
and caring team at each store is essential in 
adding value to our members’ lives.

The average length of service of our people 
exceeds 8 years, which is a testament to our 
kindred spirit and ensures a recognisable,  
happy and friendly face each time a member 
shops with us.

We embrace a safe and healthy working 
environment for employees and consumers  
and recognise this as a right for everyone. 

Social Contribution

We continue to support some 60 local 
community organisations as another way in 
which we benefit the communities we serve. 
These local groups are selected by our store 
teams each year and this support demonstrates 
our commitment to our local communities.

In addition, this year our optical business 
commenced a three year sponsorship with the 
South Australian National Football League 
(SANFL) to provide support for the SANFL 
umpires and all levels of football from the 
juniors to the seniors.

We have also taken a sponsorship of the 
Brad Jones Racing organisation and plan to 
use this sponsorship to attract a broader 
demographic to our organisation. 
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We are now in our 5th year of support with 
 the KickStart for Kids charity of which we are 
proud. This vital charity provides a breakfast  
and mentoring program for children across 
some 320 schools in South Australia. 

Throughout the year we also raised funds  
for the following charities:

• Australian Himalayan Foundation –  
Rebuild Nepal Project

• Cure Brain Cancer Foundation

• Cancer Council – Australia’s Biggest  
Morning Tea

• Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia

• Royal Children’s Hospital in Melbourne

We currently have several programs underway 
to reduce our carbon footprint. This includes 
the installation of solar panels at our 
Distribution Centre and the implementation 
of LED lighting throughout our stores.

Hallett Cove PIC Aaron Chen with members of the  
Hallett Cove Netball Club

Top: National Pharmacies Managing Director, Tony Wojciechowski, with SANFL CEO, Jake Parkinson, and SANFL umpires.  
Left: Brad Jones Racing car sponsorship.  
Right:  National Pharmacies Managing Director, Tony Wojciechowski, with Ian Steel, founder of KickStart For Kids. 
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Trading Results

Trading conditions during 2016/17 remained 
subdued reflecting continued low levels of 
consumer confidence. Uncertainty in the cost of 
living and employment as well as Government 
policy has suppressed consumer spending 
patterns with most consumers now preferring 
to either save or reduce household debt. As a 
result, our operating income during 2016/17 
was $287.2 million which was a 1.1% decrease 
on the previous year.

Reported EBIT was $2.2 million with a 
corresponding EBITDA of $6.4 million. Our 
review of the carrying value of goodwill and 
intangible assets takes into consideration the 
future profitability of individual pharmacies. 
While this has been factored into prior year 
reviews, ongoing changes to Pharmaceutical 
Benefits Scheme reforms have further affected 
us. Consequently, the carrying values of these 
items have been impacted by an impairment in 
the valuation of goodwill and other intangible 
assets of $4.4 million. This year we report a net 
loss after tax of $5.4 million in what was a 
challenging operating environment. Our 
progress in implementing our strategic 
imperatives to achieve a sustainable underlying 
profit is on track and we look forward to 
reporting our successes on these to you in 
future years.

Our Future

We are excited about the future as we position 
our organisation to be the most professional 
community pharmacy and optical destinations 
in the communities we serve.

With our current investments in technology, 
people and health delivery capabilities we see 
National Pharmacies becoming the destination 
of choice for the services we offer.

Without the right people National Pharmacies 
would not be the long standing and respected 
organisation it has been, nor what it will be into 
the future. The Board and Management thank 
all of our hard working employees for their 
dedication and efforts in achieving our Vision.

R M KENNEDY A E WOJCIECHOWSKI 
Chairman Managing Director
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We are investing in technology, 
people and our health delivery 
capabilities

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited
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Corporate Governance Statement (June 2017)

Overview

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited (FSMA), 
which operates as National Pharmacies under its 
various trading names, as a mutual organisation owned 
by its members, strives to operate at the appropriate 
level of Corporate Governance. Whilst the inclusion of a 
Corporate Governance Statement is not a requirement 
for FSMA, as it is not an ASX listed Company, we 
have included a Corporate Governance Statement 
to demonstrate to members the commitment of 
the Board to operate under the appropriate level of 
Corporate Governance.

2. Role and Responsibilities of the Board 

The Board has adopted a formal Charter which can be 
viewed in the Corporate Governance section of the 
National Pharmacies website.

The Board is responsible for setting and reviewing 
the strategic direction of FSMA and monitoring 
the implementation of that strategy by executive 
management, including:

• The oversight of FSMA including its control and 
accountability systems;

• Appointing and removing the Chief Executive Officer; 

• Approving the appointment and the removal of  
senior executives;

• Providing input into and final approval of senior 
executives’ development of corporate strategy and 
performance objectives;

• Reviewing, approving and monitoring systems of risk 
management and internal compliance and control, 
codes of conduct and legal compliance;

• Monitoring senior executives’ performance and 
implementation of strategy;

• Ensuring appropriate resources are available to  
senior executives;

• Approving the annual budget, including the capital 
expenditure budget;

• Approving and monitoring the progress of major 
capital expenditure, capital management, acquisitions 
and divestments;

• Approving and monitoring financial and other 
reporting on the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee;

• Reviewing and approving the remuneration of the 
Chief Executive Officer and senior executives on the 
recommendation of the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee; 

• Appointing, re-appointing or removing the Company’s 
external auditors on the recommendation of the 
Audit Committee; and

• Monitoring and overseeing the management of 
member and community relations.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible to the Board 
for the day-to-day management of FSMA.

3. Structure and Composition of the Board 

The Board will be comprised of a majority of 
independent non-executive Directors and it is currently 
comprised of six Directors, with five non-executive 
Directors, including the Chairman, and one executive 
Director, being the Managing Director.

The composition of the Board will be derived from 
the skills and diversity matrix which will be reviewed 
periodically.

The roles of Chairman and Managing Director are 
held by two separate individuals. The Chairman is an 
independent non-executive Director and the Managing 
Director is an executive Director. There are no other 
executive Directors. 

The skills and experience of the Company’s Directors 
are detailed on pages 17 to 20 of this Annual Report. 
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4. Independence 

An independent Director must be independent of 
management and able to exercise unfettered and 
independent judgement, free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with the 
Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the 
Company. Directors bring independent views and 
judgement to Board deliberations.

The independent Directors are identified in the 
Directors’ Report. 

In assessing whether the Director is independent, the 
Board has regard to the standards it has adopted that 
reflect the independence requirements of applicable 
laws, rules and regulations, including the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations.

The Board considers that all the non-executive 
Directors are independent. That is, for the 2017 
year, no non-executive Director had any relationship 
that could materially interfere, or be perceived to 
materially interfere, with the Director’s unfettered and 
independent judgement. The non-executive Directors 
meet at times during the year without the Managing 
Director present.

In determining independence, each non-executive 
Director is required to make an annual disclosure of 
all relevant information to the Board, and provide any 
changes at each meeting of the Board. Any assessment 
of independence for a non-executive Director who 
does not meet the independence standards adopted by 
the Board will be specifically disclosed in the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Disclosure of related party transactions is set out in 
Note 21 in the financial report.

5. Induction and Continuing Education 

Management, working with the Board, provides an 
orientation program for new Directors and new senior 
executives. The program includes discussions with 
executives and management, and reading material and 
site visits. These cover National Pharmacies’ strategic 
plans, its significant financial, accounting and risk 
management issues, its compliance programs, its code 
of conduct, its management structure, its internal and 
external audit programs, and Directors’ rights, duties 
and responsibilities.

Management periodically conducts additional 
presentations and briefing sessions for Directors about 
FSMA and the factors impacting, or likely to impact, on 
its businesses, including visits to pharmacy locations, 
which assists non-executive Directors to gain a broader 
understanding of National Pharmacies. Directors are 
also encouraged to keep up to date on topical issues.

6. Appointment and Re-Election of Board Members 

A review of Board composition and skills is undertaken 
periodically by the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee using a skills matrix that enables the 
Committee to assess the skills and the experience  
of each Director and the combined capabilities of  
the Board. 

The results of this review are considered in the  
context of the FSMA operations and strategy and 
Board diversity. The results of this review are  
then incorporated into the selection process for  
new Directors.

The process for appointing a Director is that, when  
a vacancy exists, the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee identifies candidates with the appropriate 
expertise and experience, using external consultants 
where appropriate. The most suitable candidate  
is appointed by the Board but must stand for election 
by members at the next Annual General Meeting  
of the Company. At any one time the number of 
Directors appointed by the Board shall not exceed  
40% of the total number of Directors as per the 
FSMA Constitution. 
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The Company has formal letters of appointment for 
each of its Directors, setting out the key terms and 
conditions of the appointment.

The process for re-election of a Director is in 
accordance with the Company’s Constitution, which 
requires that, other than the Managing Director and 
Chairman, one Director is required to retire by rotation 
at each Annual General Meeting and is eligible to stand 
for re-election. The Board determines which Director 
shall stand for re-election.

7. Indemnity

A deed has been entered into with each Director to 
provide indemnity and access to corporate records.

8. Management of the Company 

Management must supply the Board with information 
in a form, timeframe and quality that will enable the 
Board to discharge its duties effectively. Directors are 
entitled to request additional information at any time 
when they consider it appropriate.

The Board delegates authority and responsibility for 
the conduct of the Company’s business to the Chief 
Executive Officer who is directly accountable to the 
Board through established policies and authority levels.

The executive team is formed of the General Managers 
who meet regularly with the Chief Executive Officer 
to review the business of the organisation on a timely 
basis. The details of the executive management team 
are included at page 56 of the Annual Report.

9. Committees of the Board 

The Board has established an Executive Committee,  
an Audit Committee, a Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee, and a Corporate Governance Committee to 
assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities. 
All Directors have a standing invitation to attend the 
meetings of the Audit, Corporate Governance and 
Nominations and Remuneration Committees. The 
charters for these Committees are available on the 
National Pharmacies website under the Corporate 
Governance section.

These Committees review matters on behalf of 
the Board and, subject to the terms of the relevant 
committee’s charter:

• Where the Committee acts in an advisory capacity  
the Committee refers matters to the Board for 
consideration with a recommendation from the 
Committee; or

• Where the Committee acts with delegated authority 
the Committee determines matters which it then 
reports to the Board.

• The Chairman may attend all meetings of those 
Committees of which he is not a member in an 
ex-officio capacity. The Chief Executive Officer will 
attend all meetings of Committees of which he is  
not a member in an ex-officio capacity.

Details of the membership, composition and 
responsibilities of each Committee are detailed in  
the following chart.
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Audit Committee Nominations and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Executive Committee Corporate 
Governance 
Committee

Members Mr I R Witton (Chairman)

Mr G J Connor

Ms P F Carr

Mr R M Kennedy (Chairman)

Mr I R Witton

Ms L M Heron

Mr R M Kennedy (Chairman)

Mr I R Witton

Mr A E Wojciechowski 

Mr G J Connor (Chairman)

Ms L M Heron

Ms P F Carr

Composition The Committee must 
comprise:

• Only independent 
non-executive Directors;

• At least three members;

• Members who have an 
understanding of financial 
statements and general 
accounting principles; and

• At least one member who 
has financial experience.

The Committee must 
comprise:

• Only non-executive 
Directors;

• The Chairman of the  
Board, who will Chair the 
Committee; 

• At least three members; 
and

• A majority of independent 
non-executive Directors. 

The Committee must 
comprise:

• At least three members 
and includes the Chairman, 
Deputy Chairman and the 
Managing Director. 

The Committee must 
comprise:

• Only non-executive 
Directors; and 

• At least three members.

Responsibilities • Reviewing all published 
financial accounts of the 
Company and discussion  
of the accounts with the 
external auditors and 
management prior to their 
submission to the Board  
for approval;

• Reviewing any changes in 
accounting policies or 
practices and subsequent 
effects on the financial 
accounts of the Company;

• Making recommendations 
to the Board on the 
appointment, performance 
and remuneration of the 
external auditor; 

• Reviewing with 
management the terms  
of the external audit 
engagement to make 
recommendations to  
the Board;

• Reviewing and assessing 
non-audit services to be 
provided by the external 
auditor;

• Monitoring and assessing 
the systems for internal 
compliance and control, 
legal compliance and risk 
management including 
cybersecurity and controls;

•  Overseeing tax compliance 
and governance; and

• Reviewing the list of 
Committee tasks.

• Assisting the Board in the 
appointment, re-election 
and performance of 
Directors;

• Reviewing the 
composition and 
performance of the Board;

• Selecting and 
recommending the 
appointment of new 
Directors;

• Ensuring each new 
Director undertakes an 
induction program;

• Reviewing the 
composition of sub-
Committees and 
submitting 
recommendations to the 
Board for changes to 
those Committees;

• Determining the 
remuneration and 
incentive framework for 
FSMA;

• Determining the 
remuneration framework 
for non-executive 
Directors;

• Determining the 
remuneration framework 
for the Managing Director 
and senior executives; and 

• Reviewing the list of 
Committee tasks.     

• To deal with issues that 
arise between Board 
meetings that require 
urgent consideration. 

• The Committee is 
authorised to call a short 
notice Board meeting for 
the full Board to address 
any urgent issues.

• Determining any changes 
required to update the 
Constitution;

• Reviewing and updating 
the Board on current 
issues of Corporate 
Governance and their 
impact on FSMA;

• Reviewing regulatory and 
statutory issues facing 
FSMA and not covered by 
other committees;

• Reviewing the Workplace 
Health and Safety 
responsibilities of the 
Company;

• Reviewing and approving 
non material policies; 

• Reviewing and referring 
material policies to the 
Board for approval; 

• Developing and reviewing 
the Board/Committee 
Charters and Corporate 
Statements; and

• Reviewing the list of 
Committee tasks.
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10. Performance Evaluation 

The Board undertakes a review of the performance 
of the Board and its Committees on a regular basis. 
The FSMA Board has used the LeBlanc Diagnostic 
Assessment model for Board and individual Director 
reviews in past years. This year the Chairman 
interviewed each Board member individually as part  
of the Board evaluation process.

Each Director is also evaluated by the Board 
Nominations and Remuneration Committee when 
nominations for re-appointment become due. 
Committee structure and membership are reviewed  
on an annual basis following the AGM.

The Chief Executive Officer and senior executives 
participate in annual performance reviews. 
Performance is measured against key performance 
indicators relevant to the FSMA general objectives and 
to the executive’s role. A performance evaluation for 
senior executives took place for the current reporting 
period in accordance with the process. 

11. Access to Independent Professional Advice 

Each Director is able to seek independent professional 
advice at the Company’s expense, with the prior 
approval of the Chairman. The Chairman is able to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense. All advice received is made available to all 
members of the Board unless in the Chairman’s case  
it is considered privileged.

The Board can conduct or direct any investigation 
to fulfil its responsibilities and can retain, at the 
Company’s expense, any legal, accounting or other 
services that it considers necessary from time to time 
to perform its duties.

12. The Board Promotes Ethical and Responsible 
Decision Making 

The Board is required to follow the organisation’s 
ethical guidelines. These guidelines apply to 
all employees and Directors of FSMA, and are 
communicated within the Employee Handbook with 
the conduct of the Board and each Director also 
governed by the Board Charter.

The standards and guidelines in relation to ethical 
behaviour include: 

• Financial integrity;

• Conflicts of interest;

• Use of Company resources;

• Data security;

• Interactions with the public or media; 

• Equal opportunity and respect in the workplace;

• Health and safety; and

• Corporate social responsibility.

13. Whistleblower Protection 

FSMA has a whistleblower protection program for 
confidential reporting of unacceptable or undesirable 
conduct. The system enables disclosure to be made 
to a protected disclosure officer by employees, or, 
where applicable, if the matter is highly sensitive and 
the employee believes it is more appropriate, directly 
to the Audit Committee or a designated independent 
third party. FSMA does not tolerate incidents of fraud, 
corrupt conduct, adverse behaviour, legal or regulatory 
non-compliance, or questionable accounting and 
auditing matters by its employees.

Accordingly there are established procedures for 
the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or 
auditing matters.

Employees are also encouraged to escalate any issues 
they believe could have a material impact on FSMA’s 
profitability, reputation, governance or compliance.

It is a responsibility of the Audit Committee to ensure 
that employees can make confidential, anonymous 
submissions regarding such matters.
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FSMA will take all reasonable steps to protect a 
person who comes forward to disclose unacceptable 
or undesirable conduct, including disciplinary action 
potentially resulting in dismissal, of any person taking 
reprisals against them.

14. Conflicts of Interest 

Directors are required to avoid conflicts of interest  
and immediately inform their fellow Directors should  
a conflict of interest arise. Directors are also required to 
advise FSMA of any relevant interest that may  
result in a conflict.

Where a matter in which a Director has a material 
personal interest is being considered by the Board, that 
Director must not be present when the matter is being 
considered or vote on that matter, unless all of the 
other Directors have passed a resolution to enable that 
Director to do so or the matter comes within a category 
of exception under the Corporations Act 2001.

If a significant conflict of interest with a Director exists 
and cannot be resolved, the Director is expected to 
resign after consultation with the Chairman.

15. Diversity 

FSMA recognises that a diverse and inclusive workforce 
is not only good for our employees; it is also good for 
our business. It helps FSMA attract and retain talented 
people, create more innovative solutions, and be 
more flexible and responsive to our members’ and 
consumers’ needs. 

In recognising the importance of diversity, the Board 
has approved a diversity policy.

The proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation is 84%, the proportion of women in 
management positions is 68% and the proportion of 
women on the board is 33%.

FSMA is a Relevant Employer as defined by the 
Workplace Gender Authority Agency and the Gender 
Equality Public Report for the company is available on 
the National Pharmacies website.

16. Corporate Social Responsibility 

The Board has developed a Corporate Social 
Responsibility Statement which is available on the 
National Pharmacies Website.

17. Communication with Members 

The Board has developed a Communications Statement 
which is available on the National Pharmacies website. 

18. External Auditor 

The Audit Committee is responsible for the selection, 
evaluation, compensation and, where appropriate, 
replacement of the external auditor, subject to 
member approval where required.

The Audit Committee ensures that the lead external 
partner rotates off the FSMA audit at least every five 
years and that they are not reassigned to the FSMA 
audit for a period of two years.

The Audit Committee meets with the external auditor 
throughout the year to review the adequacy of the 
existing external audit arrangements with particular 
emphasis on the effectiveness, performance and 
independence of the audit.

The Audit Committee receives assurances from 
the external auditor that they meet all applicable 
independence requirements in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 (cth) and the recommendations 
of the professional accounting bodies. This 
independence declaration forms part of the Directors’ 
Report and is provided on page 23 of this Annual Report.

The external auditor attends the FSMA Annual General 
Meeting and is available to answer member questions 
regarding aspects of the external audit and their report.
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19. Risk Management 

FSMA is committed to the identification, monitoring 
and management of material business risks associated 
with its business activities.

The Board is responsible for reviewing, approving and 
monitoring systems of risk management. The Audit 
Committee oversees the internal controls, policies 
and procedures which the Company uses to identify 
business risks and ensure compliance with relevant 
regulatory and legal requirements.

FSMA has embedded in its management and reporting 
systems a number of overarching risk management 
controls which include:

• Strict guidelines and limits for approval of all 
expenditure inclusive of capital expenditure and 
investments;

• A compliance program supported by approved 
guidelines and standards covering safety, the 
environment, legal liability, risk identification, 
quantification and reporting, and financial controls;

• A comprehensive risk financing program, including 
risk transfer to external insurers and reinsurers; 

• Policies and procedures for the management of 
financial risk and treasury operations, including 
exposures to movements in interest rates;

• A formal dynamic planning process of preparing  
five year strategic plans each year;

• Annual budgeting and monthly reporting systems, 
which enables the monitoring of progress against 
performance targets and the evaluation of trends;

• Appropriate due diligence and analysis procedures  
for acquisitions and divestments;

• Crisis management systems and procedures tested 
through exercises every second year;

• Detailed business continuity plans; 

• A security manager that regularly reviews location 
risks; and

• A strong commitment to privacy with policies and 
procedures in place developed in accordance with  
the Australian Privacy Principles set out in the Privacy 
Act 1988 of the Commonwealth of Australia. 

On an annual basis a consolidated key risk report is 
provided to the Audit Committee for review.

20. CEO/CFO Declaration

As required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act, 
the CEO and CFO have declared that:

“In our opinion 

a.  the financial records of FSMA and its controlled 
entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 
(Financial Period) have been properly maintained in 
accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act;

b.  the financial statements and the notes referred 
to in section 295(3)(b) of the Corporations Act for 
the Financial Period comply with the accounting 
standards and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; and

c.  the financial statements and notes for the Financial 
Period give a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of FSMA in accordance 
with section 297 of the Corporations Act.”

In addition, the CEO and CFO also state to the Board 
that, in respect of FSMA for the Financial Period:

a.  “The declaration given in accordance with section 
295A is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal compliance and control 
and the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks; and

b.  The statement given regarding the risk management 
and internal compliance and control systems 
provides a reasonable, but not absolute level of 
assurance and does not imply a guarantee against 
adverse events or more volatile outcomes arising  
in the future.”
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We never discount 
the value of genuine 
care and service.
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The Directors of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited submit herewith the annual financial report for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2017.  In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors 
report as follows:

All Directors are members of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited.

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Robert Michael Kennedy 
Non-Executive Chairman

KSJ, ASAIT, Grad Dip (Systems 
Analysis), Dip Financial Planning,  
Dip Financial Services, FCA,  
CTA, AGIA, Life Member AIM, 
FAICD, MRSSA 

Directors’ Report for the Financial Year 
Ended 30 June 2017

Name Particulars

Experience and Expertise

Mr Kennedy, a Chartered Accountant, has been a non-executive director of 
FSMA Limited since 1985 and Chairman since achieving its independence in 
2009.

Mr Kennedy brings to the Board his expertise and extensive experience as 
Chairman and non-executive director of a range of listed public companies.  
He conducts the review of the Board including the Managing Director in his 
executive role.

Apart from his attendance at Board and Committee meetings, Mr Kennedy 
leads the development of strategies for the development and future growth 
of FSMA Limited.  Mr Kennedy also contributes to the Board’s external 
engagement of the Company, meeting with industry participants including 
suppliers.  He has participated in the Pharmacy 2000 series of Pharmacy 
Industry conferences for several years with other directors and management 
of the company.  He is a regular attendee of Audit Committee functions 
of the major accounting firms.  In the area of Community Engagement, he 
regularly attends, together with management, functions held by institutions 
which the company supports as part of its community engagement.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Mr Kennedy is a director of ASX listed companies, Ramelius Resources 
Limited (since listing in March 2003), Flinders Mines Limited (since 
December 2001), Maximus Resources Limited (since 2004), Monax Mining 
Limited (since 2004), and Tychean Resources Ltd (since 2006).

Formerly he was a director of Tellus Resources Ltd (from 2013 to 2015) and 
Marmota Energy Limited (2006 to 2015).

Responsibilities

Mr Kennedy’s special responsibilities include Chairmanship of the Executive 
Committee and Nominations and Remuneration Committee.
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Ian Roy Witton

ASAIT, FCPA, FAICD

Anthony Edward Wojciechowski 

Name Particulars

Experience and Expertise

Mr Witton is an accountant with audit and corporate governance 
experience. He was Grand Secretary/Managing Director of IOOF Friendly 
Society SA for 27 years. He is a non-executive director of FSMA, served  
as President/Chairman from 1986-1991, and is now Deputy Chairman.   
Mr Witton brings his extensive experience in risk management and 
evaluating sustainable business strategies. 

As a Fellow of CPA Australia since 1973 and the AICD since 1984 Mr Witton 
has since completed the AICD Master of the Boardroom level and attends 
accounting, company director and pharmacy industry seminars and 
conferences each year. 

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Chairman of Auburn and Lidcombe United Friendly Society Pharmacy Board 
Limited (since 2009), Director of Morialta Nominees Pty Ltd as trustee for 
the Morialta Charitable Trust for disadvantaged children (1992-2015), an 
independent non-executive alternate director of ASX-listed Monax Mining 
Limited (2007-2015) and Tychean Resources Ltd (since 2009).

Responsibilities

Mr Witton’s special responsibilities are Chairman of the Audit Committee, 
Deputy Chairman of the Executive Committee and the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee and he attends meetings of the Corporate 
Governance Committee.

Experience and Expertise

Mr Wojciechowski is the Managing Director of Friendly Society Medical 
Association Limited and was appointed as a Board member on 26 August 
2013.  He has a retailing career spanning 38 years having worked for one of 
the country’s largest retailing organisations for over 20 years and has also 
worked abroad in South East Asia.  He has worked for National Pharmacies 
since July 2003.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Managing Director of Auburn & Lidcombe United Friendly Society Pharmacy 
Board Limited and Vice President of the Australian Friendly Societies 
Pharmacies Association. 

Responsibilities

Mr Wojciechowski is a member of the Executive Committee and an attendee 
at all Board Committee meetings.
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Pauline Fay Carr

BEc, MBA, FAICD, FGIA, FCIS

Gregory John Connor

BEd, SF Fin, FAICD, Life Member  
and FAIM

Name Particulars

Experience and Expertise

Ms Carr is an experienced senior executive with extensive commercial, 
management, compliance and governance expertise acquired over 25 years.  

She joined the Board of FSMA on 23 September 2013.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Ms Carr is member of the University of South Australian Council.  She chairs 
the University’s Audit and Risk Management Committee and is a member of 
its Finance Committee and Senior Remuneration Committee. 

Ms Carr is also currently Deputy Chairman of the South Australian 
Government’s Minerals and Energy Advisory Council and a member of the 
South Australian Minerals and Petroleum Expert Group. 

She is also a director of ASX listed potash development company, Highfield 
Resources Limited and chairs its Audit, Business Risk and Compliance 
Committee and its Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Responsibilities

Ms Carr is a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate 
Governance Committee.

Experience and Expertise

Mr Connor is a Management Consultant.  He joined the Board on 29 March 
2010 as a Non-Executive Director.  He has extensive experience in Financial 
Services and Human Resource Management.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Current Deputy Chairman of Bedford Industries, Director of VUCA Pty Ltd 
and Auburn & Lidcombe United Friendly Society Pharmacy Board Limited.

Formerly Chairman of Abacus Australian Mutuals and a director of AIM 
Australia.  

Responsibilities

Mr Connor’s special responsibilities include Chairmanship of the Corporate 
Governance Committee.  He is also a member of the Audit Committee.
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Robert Andrew Finder

BSChE, MAICD, AIChE

Retired 30 April 2017

Linda Maree Heron

GAICD, MAHRI, MContempLdship

Company Secretary

Jennifer Ellen Taylor

The name and particulars of the Company Secretary are:

Name Particulars

Experience and Expertise

Mr Finder is a Chemical Engineer and was a Board member as a Non-
Executive Director from 23 March 2009 until his retirement on 30 April 
2017.  He has extensive experience in the biotech/pharmaceuticals and 
chemical industries.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Chairman of LBT Innovations Ltd (2007 - 2017) and a director of Auburn & 
Lidcombe United Friendly Society Pharmacy Board Limited (2009 – 2017).

Responsibilities

Mr Finder was a member of the Audit Committee.

Experience and Expertise

Mrs Heron is an experienced senior executive with expert knowledge 
of strategic human resource management applied across a number of 
industries including retail, water utilities, property development, financial 
services and the government sector.

She joined FSMA on 29 March 2010 as a Non-Executive Director.  She 
has extensive experience in retail operations including store standards, 
store design, customer service and human resources including change 
management, leadership development and executive coaching.

Mrs Heron is currently the General Manager People and Capability at 
Melbourne Water, including human resources, legal and corporate 
governance.

Current and former directorships in the last 3 years

Current director of Australian Vocational Training Assessments Pty Ltd and 
Seawinds Vineyard Pty Ltd.

Formerly a director of Heron Human Resources and Strive Business 
Coaching Pty Ltd.

Responsibilities

Mrs Heron is a Member of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee 
and the Corporate Governance Committee.

Appointed Company Secretary on 10 April 2017.

Jon David Gerschwitz was Company Secretary from 1 July 2016  
to 10 April 2017.
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Principal Activities and Changes

The Group’s principal activities in the course of 
the financial year were those of Retail Community 
Pharmacy, Community Service Obligation (CSO) 
Wholesaler and Optical Dispenser.  During or since the 
financial year there were no significant changes to the 
principal activities of the Group.

Review of Operations

Trading conditions during 2016/17 remained 
subdued reflecting continued low levels of consumer 
confidence.  Uncertainty in the cost of living and 
employment as well as government policy has 
suppressed consumer spending patterns with most 
consumers now preferring to either save or reduce 
household debt.  As a result, our operating income 
during 2016/17 was $287.2 million which was a 1.1% 
decrease on the previous year.

Reported EBIT was $2.2 million with a corresponding 
EBITDA of $6.4 million.  Our review of the carrying 
value of goodwill and intangible assets takes into 
consideration the future profitability of individual 
pharmacies.  While this has been factored into prior 
year reviews, ongoing changes to Pharmaceutical 
Benefits Scheme reforms have further affected us.  
Consequently, the carrying values of these items have 
been impacted by an impairment in the valuation of 
goodwill and other intangible assets of $4.4 million.  
This year we report a net loss after tax of $5.4 million 
in what was a challenging operating environment.  Our 
progress in implementing our strategic imperatives to 
achieve a sustainable underlying profit is on track and 
we look forward to reporting our successes on these to 
you in future years.

Changes in State of Affairs

There was no significant change in the state of affairs 
of the Group during the financial year.  

Subsequent Events

There has not been any matter or circumstance that 
has arisen since the end of the financial year that 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years.

Future Developments

National Pharmacies’ revenues are driven by retail 
activities in the pharmacy and optical markets.  
Ongoing PBS pricing reforms coupled with low levels 
of consumer confidence means that the organisation 
will continue to have to adjust and evolve to remain as a 
sustainable business.  

Strategies to achieve this evolution include:

• Divest underperforming assets and replace with 
assets that have the capacity to remain profitable;

• Invest in new capabilities in revised organisational 
structures that enable the organisation to operate 
more effectively and efficiently;

• Continue to invest in new technology platforms that 
support and enhance the business objectives;

• Drive productivity improvements through improved 
collaboration across the business; and

• Develop partnerships which provide value for our 
members, that are not reliant on Government income 
and policies.

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors

During the financial year the Company paid a premium 
in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the 
Company (as named above), the Company Secretary, 
Ms J E Taylor, and all executive officers of the Company 
and any related body corporate against a liability 
incurred as such a Director, Secretary or executive 
officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 
2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of 
the nature of the liability cover and the amount of the 
premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the 
financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 
an officer (other than Directors) or auditor of the 
Company or of any related body corporate against a 
liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is made on 
page 23 and forms part of this Directors’ Report.   

Rounding Off of Amounts

The Company is a company of the kind referred to 
in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998 and 
in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the 
Directors’ Report and the Financial Report are rounded 
off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
stated.

Directors’ Meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ 
meetings (including meetings of committees of 
directors) held during the financial year and the number 
of meetings attended by each director (whilst in their 
capacity as a director or committee member).  During 
the financial year, 12 Board meetings, 3 Corporate 
Governance Committee meetings, 3 Audit Committee 
meetings and 2 Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee meetings were held.

* Indicates attendance at a Committee meeting in the capacity of Managing Director 
# Indicates ex officio attendance at a Committee meeting 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the  
Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

R M KENNEDY      I R WITTON 
Chairman      Director

Adelaide, 25 September 2017

Directors Board of Directors
Corporate 

Governance 
Committee

Audit Committee
Nominations and 

Remuneration 
Committee

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

P F Carr 12 12 3  3 1  1

G J Connor 12 12 3  3 3  3

R A Finder 9 9 2  2

L M Heron 12 12 3  3 2  2

R M Kennedy 12 12 3  #3 3  #3 2  2

I R Witton 12 12 3  #2 3  3 2  2

A Wojciechowski 12 12 3  *3 3  *3 2  *2
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The Board of Directors  
Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 
52 Gawler Place 
ADELAIDE  SA  5000 
 

 

Dear Board Members  

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 

(i) The auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Penny Woods 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Friendly Society  
Medical Association Limited 

 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited (the “Entity”), and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Regime and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of the Entity, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report included 
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with the Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives 
a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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The Board of Directors  
Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 
52 Gawler Place 
ADELAIDE  SA  5000 
 

 

Dear Board Members  

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Friendly Society Medical Association Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of: 

(i) The auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

Penny Woods 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Penny Woods 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Adelaide, 25 September 2017 

FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Directors’ Declaration

The Directors declare that:

a) in the directorsʼ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; and

b) in the directorsʼ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the Group.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

On behalf of the Directors

R M Kennedy
Chairman

I R Witton
Director

Adelaide, 25 September 2017
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the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Penny Woods 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Adelaide, 25 September 2017 

FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Directors’ Declaration

The Directors declare that:

a) in the directorsʼ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; and

b) in the directorsʼ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the Group.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

On behalf of the Directors

R M Kennedy
Chairman

I R Witton
Director

Adelaide, 25 September 2017
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Restated
Note 3 (iii)

Revenue 4(a) 287,244 290,344
Other income 4(b) 797 1,004
Finance costs 4(b) (511) (858)
Other expenses 4(b) (292,594) (292,635)
Loss before income tax benefit (5,064) (2,145)
Income tax (expense) / benefit 5(a) (330) 2,445

Profit/(Loss) for the period (5,394) 300

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss:
Gain on property revaluation 1,577 1,263

(540) (234)

Other comprehensive gain for the year 1,037 1,029

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year (4,357) 1,329

Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to:
Owners of the Company (5,383) 305
Non-controlling interests (11) (5)

(5,394) 300

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company (4,346) 1,334
Non-controlling interests (11) (5)

(4,357) 1,329

Notes to the financial statements are included as pages 31 to 55.

Income tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity

27



FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2017

Note 2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Restated
Note 3 (iii)

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 356 5,203
Trade and other receivables 7 5,968 5,992
Inventories 8 42,143 42,650
Prepayments 2,628 2,597
Current tax assets 5(d) - 29
Land & Building held for sale 598 -
Total Current Assets 51,693 56,471

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 53,620 54,259
Goodwill 10 5,399 7,077
Other intangible assets 11 13,467 16,431
Deferred tax assets 5(b) - 869
Total Non-Current Assets 72,486 78,636

Total Assets 124,179 135,107

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 22,915 27,380
Borrowings 15 1,500 1,500
Other financial liabilities 13 1,265 1,431
Provisions 14 8,139 8,492
Total Current Liabilities 33,819 38,803

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 15 10,125 11,625
Provisions 14 689 776
Total Non-Current Liabilities 10,814 12,401

Total Liabilities 44,633 51,204

Net Assets 79,546 83,903

Equity
Issued capital 16 - -
Reserves 17 10,160 9,123
Retained earnings 69,729 75,112
Parent entity interest 79,889 84,235
Non-controlling interests 25 (343) (332)

Total Equity 79,546 83,903

Notes to the financial statements are included as pages 31 to 55.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 302,331 304,623
Payments to suppliers and employees (311,589) (315,880)
Member contributions received 9,154 9,412
Interest paid (294) (688)

Net Cash used in Operating Activities (398) (2,533)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (2,959) (3,045)
Proceeds from sale of businesses 22(c) - 787
Interest received 10 45

Net Cash used in Investing Activities (2,949) (2,213)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayment of borrowings (1,500) (1,500)

Net Cash used in Financing Activities (1,500) (1,500)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents held (4,847) (6,246)

5,203 11,449

22(a) 356 5,203

Notes to the financial statements are included as pages 31 to 55.

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the Financial Year

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

Inflows/
(Outflows)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the Financial Year
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

1. Additional Information

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited is a public company, incorporated and operating in Australia.  

Registered office and principal place of business

52 Gawler Place
Adelaide SA 5000

2. Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to their operations and effective for the current
reporting period.

Various other Standards and Interpretations were on issue but were not yet effective at the date of
authorisation of the financial report. The issue of these Standards and Interpretations do not affect the
Group’s present policies and operations. The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards
and Interpretations in future periods will not materially affect the amounts recognised in the financial
statements of the Group but may change the disclosure presently made in the financial statements of the
Group.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies

(i)

(ii)

(iii) Change in Accounting Policy – Deferred tax associated with acquisition of intangibles as a result of a
business acquisition

The IFRS Interpretations Committee has issued an agenda decision related to the expected manner of
recovery of intangible assets. The Committee was asked to clarify how an entity determines the expected
manner of recovery of an intangible asset for deferred tax measurement purposes.

The carrying amount of goodwill at 30 June 2017 was $5,338,000 (30 June 2016: $7,016,000) after an
impairment loss of $1,678,000 was recognised during 2017 (2016: $2,490,000).

Statement of Compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Regime, and complies
with other requirements of the law.

The financial report comprises the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a not-for-profit entity.

Basis of Preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in
exchange for assets.  All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in
accordance with the Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, as set out below, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgments.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 25 September 2017.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the higher of fair value less costs to sell or
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset at the measurement date.

The impact of these changes was to increase Goodwill by $1,898,000 at 1 July 2015 and by $61,000 at 30
June 2016, reduce retained earnings by $3,317,000 at 1 July 2015 and $4,343,000 at 30 June 2016,
decrease deferred tax assets by $5,215,000 at 1 July 2015 and $4,404,000 at 30 June 2016 and increase
income tax benefit for the year ended 30 June 2016 by $811,000.

Previously the Group measured deferred tax liabilities on the assumption of the tax consequences that would
arise solely from the sale of the assets. Under its new policy, the Group considers its expected manner of
recovery. The Group has implemented this guidance on a retrospective basis as a change in accounting
policy to AASB 112 Income Taxes.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(iv)

(a) Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make
future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

(b) Property Plant and Equipment 

Land and buildings are measured at fair value. Fair value is determined on the basis of an annual
independent valuation prepared by external valuation experts, based on discounted cash flows or
capitalisation of net income (as appropriate). The fair values are recognised in the financial statements of
the Group, and are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the carrying value of land
and buildings is not materially different from their fair values.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is credited to the asset
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset
previously recognised as an expense in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to the
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income to the extent of the decrease previously
charged. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of land and buildings is charged as an
expense in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the asset revaluation
reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a
revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the asset revaluation reserve, net of
any related deferred taxes, is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the
event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by
discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding
land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis or by diminishing value method, so as to write off
the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual
value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life,
whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and investments in money market
instruments. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial
position.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the
financial report:

Significant Accounting Policies

•           Buildings                                                 30 years 
•           Leasehold improvements                                  2-15 years 
•           Plant and equipment                           2.5-33 years 
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(d) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, time in lieu,
annual leave and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are
capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured
at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Contributions to accumulated benefit superannuation benefit plans are expensed when incurred.

(e) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST),
except:

i.         where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised
        as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
ii.        for receivables and payables, which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of receivables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash
flows arising from investing and financial activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(f) Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. Goodwill is subsequently measured at its cost less any
impairment losses.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(CGUs) expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated are tested for impairment annually. 

(g) Income Tax

Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of
the taxable profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised
as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive statement of financial position liability method in
respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(g) Income Tax (cont'd)

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available
against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised.
However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to
them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business
combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax
liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s)
when the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss, or where they arise from
the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

(h) Debt and Equity Instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(i) Inventories

Inventories on hand consist of finished goods. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

(j) Leased Assets

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(j) Leased Assets (cont'd)

Lease incentives
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

(k) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) (referred to as ‘the Group’ 
in these financial statements). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up
to the effective date of disposal as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group. All intra-group transactions,
balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The
interests of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition,
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus
the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic
benefits is probable and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

(m) Impairment of Assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Any impairment of goodwill is not
subsequently reversed.
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FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(m) Impairment of Assets (cont'd)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair
value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair
value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase (refer Note
3(b)).

(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced
for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sale of goods
• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
     goods;
• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
     with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
•the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•   it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
•the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract.  The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:

•     servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion
of the total cost of providing the servicing for the product sold, taking into account historical

     trends in the number of services actually provided on past goods sold; and
• revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours
     are delivered and direct expenses are incurred.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Rental income
Revenue from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Contributions
Revenue from members’ contributions is recognised on an accrual basis.

(o) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group enters into interest rate caps. Further details are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial
statements. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss immediately as they do not qualify for hedge accounting.

Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate
derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracts and the
host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(p) Financial Assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate method.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at each statement of financial position date. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. For financial
assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of
an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance
account.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit and loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss
to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an
impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.

(q) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(q) Intangible Assets (cont'd)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.

(r) Business Combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of their fair values (at the date of
exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes
in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period
adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant Standards. Changes in
the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognised.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, in any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interest in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under AASB 3 (2008) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a
maximum of one year.

(s) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be
expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 
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3. Summary of Accounting Policies (cont'd)

(s) Non-current assets held for sale (cont'd)

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

(t) Financial Year End

The financial year end for the Group is 2 July 2017 and comprises 52 weeks (2016: 3 July 2016 and
comprising 53 weeks).
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4. Profit from Operations

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(a) Revenue

Revenue from continuing operations consisted of the following items:

Revenue from the sale of goods 241,574         243,163         

Revenue from the rendering of services 35,076 36,580           

Member contributions 8,310             8,552             

Rental revenue 655                649                

Interest revenue:
Bank deposits 2                    45                  
Loan 8                    -

Other revenue:
Other entities 1,619             1,355             

287,244         290,344         

(b) Loss before income tax

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after crediting the following 
gains:

Other Income:
Reversal of previous impairment loss 614 301                
Profit on disposal of businesses - 669                
Change in fair value of interest rate caps 183                34                  

797 1,004             

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following 
expenses:

Finance costs:
Interest on bank loan 293                640                
Interest on loan to Key Management Personnel Related Entities 25 25                  
Other finance costs 193 193                

511                858                

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017
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4. Profit from Operations (cont'd)

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(b) Loss before income tax (cont'd)

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following 
expenses: 

Cost of sales 201,132 196,926
Retail expenses 39,009 43,627
Administration expenses 21,973 21,687
Occupancy expenses 19,315 18,755
Marketing expenses 3,791 3,840
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 839 366
Other expenses 6,535 7,434

292,594 292,635

Employee benefit expense:
Wages and salaries 46,526 49,929
Contributions to superannuation funds 4,597 4,907
Decrease in employee benefits (484) (372)

50,639 54,464

Depreciation of non-current assets 3,808 3,908

Operating lease rental expenses:
Minimum lease payments 9,043 8,792

Impairment of non current assets 4,984 5,568

Amortisation of customer lists 1,952 2,004

42



FRIENDLY SOCIETY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
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5. Income Taxes

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss 

Tax expense/(income) comprises:

Current and deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences and tax losses 330 (2,445)

Total tax expense/(income) 330 (2,445)

The prima facie income tax expense/(income) on pre-tax accounting
loss from operations reconciles to the income tax expense/(income) in
the financial statements as follows:

Loss from continuing operations (5,065) (2,145)

Income tax revenue calculated at 30% (1,519) (644)

Non-deductible expenses – other 15 36

Non-deductible expenses – non current assets impairment 1,028 1,298

Current year capital losses utilised / (net capital losses recognised) (170) 144

Current year capital loss not recognised 170 -

Current year revenue loss not recognised 1,159 -

Non taxable income (1,573) (2,515)

Prior year derecognition of revenue and capital losses 720 -

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to prior years 500 (764)

Income tax expense/(income) 330 (2,445)

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian
corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate
tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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5. Income Taxes (con't)

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(b) Recognised deferred tax asset 

The deferred tax asset is attributable to the following:

Trade and other receivables 3 3
Inventories 69 61
Prepayments - (40)
Property, plant and equipment (2,379) (1,645)
Intangible assets (4,009) (4,898)
Other financial assets 46 75
Trade and other payables 114 105
Employee benefits 1,484 1,586
Other items 130 188

(4,542) (4,565)

Tax losses:
Revenue 3,184 2,196
Capital 3,407 3,238

6,591 5,434

Total temporary differences and tax losses 2,049 869

Revenue losses not recognised (1,589) -
Capital losses not recognised (460) -

Net deferred tax asset - 869

(c) Movement in deferred tax asset 

Opening balance 869 3,872
Adjustment Note 3 (iii) - (5,214)
Opening balance (restated) 869 (1,342)
Recognised in income (329) 2,445
Recognised in equity (property) (540) (234)

Closing balance - 869

(d) Current tax asset
Tax refund receivable - 29

6. Key Management Personnel Remuneration

2017 2016
   $      $  

2,869,227 3,149,878
Compensation to directors and other members of Key Management 
Personnel of the company and the Group
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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7. Trade and Other Receivables

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

4,904             4,584             
(15) (15)

4,889             4,569             
1,079             1,423             

5,968 5,992

15                  15                  
- -

15 15

(i)

8. Current Inventories

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Finished goods at cost 42,143 42,650

Amounts written off as uncollectible

The average credit period of sales of goods and rendering of services is 30 days. No interest is charged
on the trade receivables. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivable
amounts arising from the past sale of goods and rendering of services, determined by reference to past
default experience. 

Balance at the end of the year

Balance at the beginning of the year

Current
Trade receivables (i)
Allowance for doubtful debts

Net GST receivable from Australian Taxation Office

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
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9. Non-Current Property, Plant and Equipment 

Freehold
Land and Leasehold Plant and
Buildings Improvements Equipment

at fair value at cost at cost Total
$’000 (i) $’000 $’000 $’000

38,362 7,180 52,104 97,646

- 728 2,317 3,045
- (283) (4,240) (4,523)
- - (629) (629)

729 - - 729

39,091 7,625 49,552 96,268

73 728 2,158 2,959
- (563) (1,405) (1,968)

(598) - - (598)
1,363 - - 1,363

39,929 7,790 50,305 98,024

- (5,289) (37,857) (43,146)

- - 4,157 4,157
- - 598 598

290 - - 290
(290) (166) (3,452) (3,908)

- (5,455) (36,554) (42,009)

- - 1,129 1,129
- - - -

284 - - 284
(284) (56) (3,468) (3,808)

- (5,511) (38,893) (44,404)

39,091 2,170 12,998 54,259

39,929 2,279 11,412 53,620

There was no depreciation capitalised as part of the cost of other assets.

(i)

As at 30 June 2017

Net adjustments from revaluation 
increments/(decrements)
Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2017

Net book value
As at 30 June 2016

Land and buildings are revalued to their fair value, based on independent market valuations performed by
M3property (2016: M3property), with valuations on one third of the properties each year. The valuations are
based on recent sale transactions and other relevant market data. The effective date of revaluation is 30
June 2017 (2016: 30 June 2016).

Assets held for Sale

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Balance at 30 June 2017

Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and 
impairment

Balance at 1 July 2015

Disposals

Net adjustments from revaluation 
increments/(decrements)
Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2016

Disposals

Disposals on sale of businesses

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

Assets held for Sale

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2015

Additions
Disposals

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Balance at 30 June 2016

Additions
Disposals

Disposals on sale of businesses
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9. Non-Current Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 

10. Goodwill

Note 2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of the year 38,938 37,040
Adjustment Note 3 (iii) - 1,898
Balance at beginning of the year (restated) 38,938 38,938

Balance at the end of the year 38,938           38,938              

Accumulated impairments

Balance at beginning of the year (31,861) (27,534)
Impairments (1,678) (4,327)

Balance at the end of the year (33,539) (31,861)

Net book value
At the beginning of the financial year 7,077             9,506                

At the end of the financial year 5,399             7,077                

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

As a result of the revaluation, land and buildings increased by $1,647,000 (2016: increased by $1,019,000). Of this
$1,577,000 increased the asset revaluation reserve (2016: $1,263,000 increased the asset revaluation reserve),
$544,000 as an impairment loss and $614,000 as a reversal of a prior year impairment loss (2016: $545,000 as an
impairment loss and $301,000 as a reversal of a prior year impairment loss) were included in the Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.
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11. Other Intangible Assets

2017 2016
  $'000   $'000   

Licences 2,385             2,385                
Customer lists 9,332             12,296              
Rights 1,750             1,750                

13,467           16,431              

(a)

3,793             3,883                
Disposals on sale - (90)

3,793             3,793                

(1,408) (1,226)
- (272)

Disposals on sale - 90                     

(1,408) (1,408)

2,385             2,657                

2,385             2,385                

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(b)

22,743 22,743

22,743 22,743

(10,447) (8,019)
(1,952) (2,004)
(1,012) (424)

(13,411) (10,447)

12,296           14,724              

9,332             12,296              

At the beginning of the financial year

At the end of the financial year

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of the year

Balance at the end of the year

Licences

Gross carrying amount

Balance at beginning of the year

Balance at the end of the year

Accumulated amortisation/impairments

Balance at beginning of the year
Impairment

Balance at the end of the year

Net book value
At the beginning of the financial year

At the end of the financial year

Accumulated amortisation/impairments

The above relate to pharmacy licences which are considered to have an indefinite useful life as there is no
foreseeable limit to the period over which they are expected to generate net cash in-flows for the Group given the
indefinite legal right to renew the licences for an insignificant cost. 

Customer Lists

Balance at the end of the year

Net book value

The useful life used in the above calculation of amortisation is 10 years.

Balance at beginning of the year
Amortisation
Impairment
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11. Other Intangible Assets (cont'd)

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(c)

1,650 1,650
100 100

1,750 1,750

(i)

12. Current Trade and Other Payables

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Trade payables (i) 19,159 23,279
Prepaid membership fees 1,405 1,469
Other payables and accruals 2,351 2,632

22,915 27,380

(i)

13. Current Other Financial Liabilities

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Interest rate caps at fair value 248 432
Interest bearing loan from Key Management Personnel Related Entity (i) 1,017 999

1,265 1,431

(i) The current effective interest rate on the loan is 4%.

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on the trade payables. The Group
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

During the 2013 year, the Group entered into an arrangement with a Key Management Personnel related entity
(KMP related entity) for a ten year period expiring on 3 June 2023. Under the agreement, if the KMP related
entity acquires any pharmaceutical businesses during the period, the Company can exercise the franchising
right and require the KMP related entity to enter into a franchising agreement with the Company. If this does not
occur, then the fee is repaid in accordance with the agreement.

Rights

Franchising right (i)
First right of refusal 
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14. Current and Non-Current Provisions 

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Current

Employee Benefits (i) 8,095 8,492
Lease 44 -

8,139 8,492

Non-Current
Employee Benefits 689 776

(i)

15. Current and Non-Current Borrowings

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Current
Secured
At amortised cost
Bank loan (i)(ii)  1,500 1,500

Non-Current 
Secured
At amortised cost
Bank loan (i)(ii) 10,125 11,625

(i)
(ii) The current effective interest rate of the loan is 2.67% (2016: 2.90%).

16. Issued Capital

17. Reserves

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Balance at the beginning of the year 9,123 8,094
Increase arising on revaluation of properties 1,577 1,263
Tax consequences (540) (234)

Balance at end of the year 10,160 9,123

The Company is limited by a guarantee of $1 per Member. At 30 June 2017, the Company had 160,273 Members
(2016: 163,461). 

The Company is limited by Shares and Guarantee. At 30 June 2017 and at 30 June 2016, the Company had no
issued shares.

The asset revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings. Where a revalued land or building is
sold that portion of the asset revaluation reserve which relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred
directly to retained profits. 

The current provision for employee benefits includes $4,414,000 (2016: $4,714,000) of annual leave and vested
long service leave entitlements accrued but not expected to be taken within 12 months.

Secured by a Registered Mortgage Debenture over the assets of the Group.
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18. Commitments for Capital Expenditure

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Leasehold improvements - -
Plant & Equipment - 20

Balance at end of the year - 20

19. Contingent Liabilities and Assets

20. Leases
2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Operating Leases

Non-cancellable operating leases
Contracted for:
Not longer than 1 year 8,156 8,036
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 19,474 18,733
Longer than 5 years 5,009 5,919

32,639 32,688

21. Related Party Disclosures

(a)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The group has given bank guarantees of $701,000 (2016: $614,000) in relation to leasehold properties. There are
no other contingent liabilities or assets as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

No revenue was received from Key Management Personnel Related Entities.

Aggregate amounts payable to Key Management Personnel Related Entities have been disclosed in
Note 13.  

Where Key Management Personnel are members of the Group they pay contributions at normal member rates.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

Operating leases relate to retail outlets with lease terms of between 0 to 30 years with an option to extend some for
a further 1 to 15 years. Most operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the leases
are renewed.  There is no option to purchase the leased assets at the expiry of the lease periods.

The above transactions are between Key Management Personnel Related Entities and the Group and occur
under normal terms and conditions.

Subscriptions of $83,181 (2016: $47,463) were paid to National Pharmaceutical Services Association.

Interest of $25,271 (2016: $24,571) was paid to a Key Management Personnel Related Entity in respect of a
loan.

Transactions with Related Parties

Subscriptions of $72,202 (2016: $83,421) were paid to Australian Friendly Society Pharmacies Association. 
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22. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Cash 356 5,203

(b) Financing Facilities

Secured bank loan facility

Facility Limit 21,625 23,125
Amount Drawn - -

Amount Available 21,625 23,125

Secured Bank Guarantee

Facility Limit 750 750
Amount Drawn (701)               (614)                  

Amount Available 49 136

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(c) Businesses Disposed

Details of the disposals are as follows:

Consideration
Cash - 787                   

Carrying Value of Net Assets Disposed
Current Assets:
Inventories - 87                     
Non-current Assets:
Property, plant and equipment - 31                     

Net Assets Disposed - 118                   

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as
shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as
follows:

During the financial year, no businesses were sold by the Group             
(2016: one)

The above facilities are subject to annual review and are secured by a Registered Mortgage Debenture over the
assets of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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23. Financial Instruments

(a) Significant accounting policies

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Financial assets
Loans and Receivables 5,968             5,992                
Cash and cash equivalents 356                5,203                

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 35,557           41,504              
Interest rate cap contracts 248                432                   

(c) Interest rate cap contracts

(d) Fair value of financial instruments

Under interest rate cap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate
interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate
the risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt held and the cash flow exposures on
the issued variable rate debt held. The fair value of interest rate caps at the reporting date is determined by
discounting the future cash flows using the applicable yield curves at reporting date and the credit risk inherent
in the contract, and is disclosed below. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the
end of the financial year.

Interest rate caps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on
the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximates their fair values.

The fair value of interest rate cap contracts designated as cash flow hedges outstanding at the end of the
reporting period is $248,000 (2016: $432,000).

All interest rate cap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are
designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable
interest rates on borrowings. The interest rate caps and the interest payments on the loan occur simultaneously
and the amount deferred in equity is recognised in profit or loss over the period that the floating interest
payments on debt impact profit or loss.

Derivatives

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the
bases of measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 3.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest
rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate
borrowings, by the use of interest rate cap contracts and is limited up to the value of the Group's secured bank
loan facility.
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24. Assets Pledged as Security

25. Non-Controlling Interests

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

Balance at the beginning of the year 332 327
Share of loss for the year 11 5

Balance at end of the year 343 332

26. Acquisition of Businesses

During the year, no businesses were acquired.

No businesses were acquired during the 2016 financial year. 

27. Parent Entity Information

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(a) Financial Position

Assets

Current Assets 50,026           54,738              
Non-Current Assets 71,285           77,530              

Total Assets 121,311         132,268            

Liabilities

Current Liabilities 41,117           47,494              
Non-Current Liabilities 689                776                   

Total Liabilities 41,806           48,270              

Equity

Issued Capital -                 -                    
Retained Earnings 69,346           74,875              
Asset Revaluation 10,159           9,123                

Total Equity 79,505           83,998              

In accordance with the security arrangement of liabilities, as disclosed in Note 15, all assets of the Group have been 
effectively pledged as security.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2017

27. Parent Entity Information (cont'd)

2017 2016
$'000   $'000   

(b) Financial Performance

Profit/(Loss) for the year (5,394)            300                   
Other comprehensive income 1,037             1,029                

Other comprehensive loss (4,357)            1,329                

(c)
and equipment by the parent entity

Plant & Equipment -                 20                     

(d) Contingent Liabilities

The Company has given bank guarantees of $701,000 (2016: $614,000) in relation to leasehold properties.

28. Controlled Entities

Country of Ownership Interest
Incorporation 2017 2016

% %

Australia

Australia 100 100
- 99 99

National Pharmacies Australia Pty Ltd has not prepared an audited financial report as the entity is classified as a
small proprietary company under the Corporations Act 2001.  

Parent Entity

Friendly Society Medical Association Limited

Controlled Entities

National Pharmacies Australia Pty Ltd
National Pharmacies Victoria Partnership

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant 

55



General Managers

Tony Wojciechowski 
Managing Director 

Vito Borrello 
General Manager Operations and Merchandising 

Neale Burton 
General Manager Procurement and Logistics 

Ryan Klose 
General Manager Corporate  

Brad Mills 
General Manager Support  
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